# An Essential GUIDE to PUBLIC SPEAKING



Serving Your Audience with Faith, Skill, and Virtue

Foreword by Martin J. Medhurst

# Quentin J. Schultze

Afterword by Clifford G. Christians

# An Essential GUIDE to PUBLIC SPEAKING



Serving Your Audience with Faith, Skill, and Virtue

Foreword by Martin J. Medhurst

# Quentin J. Schultze

Afterword by Clifford G. Christians



a division of Baker Publishing Group Grand Rapids, Michigan

# Contents

Expanded Table of Contents xi

List of Spotlight Topics xix

Foreword by Martin J. Medhurst xxii	
Acknowledgments xxiv	
Introduction 1	
1. Speak to Serve 3	
2. Plan Neighbor-Serving Speeches 11	
3. Conquer Speaking Fears 21	
4. Compose an Outline 31	
5. Speak Extemporaneously 40	

6. Anticipate Challenges and Opportunities 46

8. Research the Topic and Audience 669. Find and Evaluate Online Sources 75

10. Be Trustworthy (Ethos 1) 85

12. Convey Ideas Passionately 103

11. Be Virtuous (Ethos 2) 93

7. Think Biblically 55

- 13. Speak to Inform Dramatically 115
- 14. Tell Stories (Mythos) 124
- 15. Speak to Persuade Logically (Logos) 134
- 16. Speak to Persuade Emotionally (Pathos) 146
- 17. Share Special Moments 156
- 18. Advocate for All Neighbors by Amy King 167
- 19. Present in Groups by Heidi Petak 178
- 20. Stage with Technology 189
- 21. Speak through Video by Kathleen Sindorf 200 Afterword by Clifford G. Christians 209

Appendix A: Checklist for Preparing a Speech 213

Appendix B: Plan Speeches with the Holy Spirit 215

Appendix C: Form for Evaluating Speeches 218

Appendix D: Speaking from a Manuscript: Lessons from an Executive Speechwriter *by Karl Payton* 220

Notes 225

# Expanded Table of Contents

List of Spotlight Topics xix

Foreword by Martin J. Medhurst xxii

Acknowledgments xxiv

### Introduction 1

### 1. Speak to Serve 3

Start with Neighbor Love 3
Desire to Love Others with the Gift of Speech 4
Seek Shared Understanding for Community 4
Listen for Ways to Serve 4
See Audiences as Neighbors 6
Speak Up for Neighbors beyond Audiences 6
Listen for God's Calls 7
Speak Courageously 9
Conclusion 9

### 2. Plan Neighbor-Serving Speeches 11

Step 1: Identify a Topic 11
Step 2: Define the Audience 13
Step 3: Research the Topic and Audience 14
Conduct Primary, Secondary, and Autobiographical Research 14
Narrow Down the Topic and Audience 16
Step 4: Establish a Speaking Purpose 16
Aim Primarily to Inform, Persuade, or Delight the Audience 16

Consider the Most Fitting Speaking Purpose for the Situation 16

хi

Step 5: State a Main Idea 17 Step 6: Write a Speech Outline 18 Step 7: Adapt the Speech to the Audience 18 Conclusion 20 3. Conquer Speaking Fears Admit Fear 21 Understand Nakedness 22 Fear Like Moses 23 Fear Like the Apostle Paul 23 Embrace the Benefits—Motivation and Adrenaline 24 Grow in Community 24 Defy Panic 26 Prepare Well 26 Plan Responses to Triggers 27 Identify Panic Attacks Quickly 27 Do the Next Practical Thing Needed 27 Improvise with Practical Techniques 27 Take Time 28 Focus on Gratitude 28 Conclusion 29 4. Compose an Outline Revere the Outline 31 Write an Appropriately Organized Outline 32 Consider Different Organizational Approaches 32 Develop a Unified Introduction, Body, and Conclusion 33 Begin a Speech—the Introduction 34 Develop the Main Section of a Speech—the Body 35 Finish the Speech—the Conclusion 36 Include Transition Statements 36 Numbered Outline Points 38 Visual Metaphors 38 Acronyms 38 Conclusion 39 5. Speak Extemporaneously Pursue Extemporaneous Speaking 40 Understand Basic Extemporaneous Speaking 41 Learn Extemporaneous Skills 42 Memorize an Outline Visually 42 Elaborate on Memory 43

Reflect while Speaking 44
Affirm the Audience 44
Conclusion 45

6. Anticipate Challenges and Opportunities 46

Monitor the Time 46

Attend to the Moment 47

Plan for Questions and Answers (O&A) 48

Prepare Emotionally 49

Admit Ignorance 49

Anticipate Questions 50

Determine a Process 50

Recover Graciously 51

Ignore Minor Mistakes 51

Correct Substantive Mistakes 51

Accept the Benefits of Mistakes 52

Beware of Possible Offense 52

Prepare for Technological Problems 53

Conclusion 53

### 7. Think Biblically 55

Admit Personal Limitations 55

Use Scripture Carefully and Appropriately 56

Identify Tribal Correctness 57

Know Christian Nonnegotiables 58

Offer a Comforting Voice in the Church 59

Navigate Tribal Conflicts 59

Offer a Critical Voice to Church and Society 60

Seek Biblical Wisdom 62

Focus on Biblical Themes 63

Let Faith Guide Biblical Understanding 64

Conclusion 64

### 8. Research the Topic and Audience 66

Consult Topical Authorities 66

Consider Knowledge Gaps 67

Know Personal Biases 67

Refine and Change Topics 68

Overcome Information Overload 69

Gain Aha Insights 69

Assess Recent Information 70

Conduct Audience Research 71

Use Personal Knowledge 73 Conclusion 74

### 9. Find and Evaluate Online Sources 75

Step 1: Define Topical Language 75

Step 2: Consult with Research Experts 76

Research Librarians 77

Instructors 77

Experts at Teaching Skills/Processes 77

Step 3: Find Authoritative Sources 77

Search Public Websites 78

Search Fee-Based Periodicals/Media Websites 78

Search Books 78

Step 4: Evaluate the Credibility of Secondary Sources 79

Check the Sources of Quotations 80

Check Sources' Credentials 80

Examine Websites' Credibility 81

Step 5: Use Sources Honestly 82

Identify Plagiarism 82

Avoid Fabrication 83

Step 6: Cite Sources in Speeches 83

Conclusion 84

### 10. Be Trustworthy (Ethos 1) 85

Be True 85

Reject Lying 86

Protect Privacy 87

Seek Nearly Whole Truth 88

Exaggerate Fairly 89

Use Figures of Speech Carefully 89

Use Precise Language 90

Use Appropriate Flattery 90

Control Opinions 91

Distinguish between Informed and Uninformed Opinions 91

Acknowledge Semi-informed Personal Opinions 92

Conclusion 92

### 11. Be Virtuous (Ethos 2) 93

*Imitate the Ethos of Jesus Christ* 93

Be Worthy of Witness 94

Speak to Enemies as to Self 95

Speak with Integrity in the Spirit 95

Speak with a Joyful Heart 96

Speak in Peace 96

Speak Patiently 97 Speak Kindly 97 Speak with Goodness 98 Speak Faithfully 99 Speak with Gentleness 100 Speak with Self-Control 101 Conclusion 102 12. Convey Ideas Passionately Create Identification 103 Use "We" Rather Than "You" 104 Empathize with Neighbors beyond the Audience 104 Use Audience-Relevant Examples and Illustrations 105 Use Words Creatively and Evocatively 106 Express Verbally 106 Vary Vocal Range—Pitch and Tone 108 Vary Vocal Pace 108 Vary Volume 109 Vary Vocabulary 109 Avoid Verbal Fillers 109 Express Nonverbally 110 Manage First Impressions 111 Integrate Nonverbal Cues with Intentional Words 112 Consider the Interpretive Context 112 Speak with the Body 112 Conclusion 113 13. Speak to Inform Dramatically 115 Determine and Address Audience Interest 115 Address Audience Needs 116 Find the Human Drama at the Intersection of Needs and Information 117 Choose a Form of Informative Communication 118 Describe Someone or Something 118 Teach a Skill or Other Process 119 Explain Something 120 Report a Discovery 121 Conclusion 122

Quentin Schultze, An Essential Guide to Public Speaking, 2nd ed. Baker Academic, a division of Baker Publishing Group, © 2020. Used by permission.

14. Tell Stories (Mythos) *Identify Mythos* 124

Ponder Our Storied Lives 125

Speak with Narratives 126
Engage Audiences 126
Exemplify and Illustrate 127
Use Humor 128
Tell Personal Parables—Testimonies 129
Tell Stories Well 131
Conclusion 132

### 15. Speak to Persuade Logically (Logos) 134

Persuade with Logos, Pathos, and Ethos 134
Identify and Address Audience Attitudes 135
Persuade Logically 136
Use Evidence—Secondary and Personal 138
Use Logic with a Comparative Advantages Approach 140
Use Logic with Problem-Solution Organization 141
Face the Difficulty 142
Identify Poor Reasoning—Fallacies 143

Conclusion 143

### 16. Speak to Persuade Emotionally (Pathos) 146

Consider the Limits of Logic—Habits and Corrupted Minds 146
Speak to Preexisting Attitudes 148
Face the Challenge 148
Understand Affections—Heartfelt Loves 149
Identify Audiences' Affections 149

Use Negative or Positive Appeals 151 Appeal Practically to Affections 152

Wonder Out Loud 153

Conclusion 155

### 17. Share Special Moments 156

Introduce Speakers 156

Speak Impromptu 157

Speak at Celebratory Occasions 158

Identify the Occasion 158

Delight the Audience 159

Highlight Endearing Quirks 159

Celebrate to Remember 160

Focus on the Subject 160

Use a Unifying Theme 162

Add Positive Humor 162

Employ Playful Speech 163

Analyze Occasions 163 Conclusion 165

### 18. Advocate for All Neighbors by Amy King 167

Understand Biblical Justice 168

Identify Communicative Injustice 168

Gain Social Consciousness 169

Become Aware of Biblical Neighbors in Need 170

Consider Speaking Up for the Poor 170

Consider Speaking Up for Children 170

Consider Speaking Up for the Oppressed 171

Decide When and How to Advocate for Others 172

Cultivate a Heart of Love for Neighbors 172

Understand Neighbors before Advocating 172

Know When to Speak Up 172

Be Courageous 173

Promote and Participate in Democratic Discourse 173

Support Religion in the Public Square 174

Advocate with Others 175

Historical Example 1: Speaking to Abolish Slavery 175

Historical Example 2: Advocating for Civil Rights 176

Conclusion 177

### 19. Present in Groups by Heidi Petak 178

Consider Audience Views 179

Follow Rhetorical Principles 179

Adopt Servant Dynamics 179

Value All Members 179

Foster Equal Participation 180

Be Mutually Gracious 181

Delegate Group Work 181

Determine Presentation Roles 182

Address Conflicts 182

Embrace Variety in Unity 183

Begin and End Well 184

Manage Time with Rehearsals 184

Introduce Members 185

Transition Smoothly 186

Attend to Self and Speaker 186

Facilitate O&A 187

Conclusion 187

### 20. Stage with Technology 189

Perform for Stage 189

Reject Techno-Magic 190

Prepare a Menu 191

Address Fear with Technology 193

Visualize for Memorability 193

Focus Lighting 194

Direct the Audience's Gaze 194

Minimize Slide Design and Content 195

Consider Print or Digital Handouts 196

Follow Copyright Law 196

Amplify Voice 197

Conclusion 198

### 21. Speak through Video by Kathleen Sindorf 200

Gain Biblical Perspective 200

Identify the Video Situations 201

Personal Video 201

Meeting Video 202

Stage Video 203

Consider Remote-Audience Challenges 204

Record Self 205

Address Video Fears 205

Be Natural 206

Conclusion 207

### Afterword by Clifford G. Christians 209

Appendix A: Checklist for Preparing a Speech 213

Appendix B: Plan Speeches with the Holy Spirit 215

Appendix C: Form for Evaluating Speeches 218

Appendix D: Speaking from a Manuscript: Lessons from an

Executive Speechwriter BY KARL PAYTON 220

Notes 225

## Introduction

Billionaire Warren Buffet says that learning public speaking skills can boost your value to employers by 50 percent. He understates the benefits. Becoming an effective public speaker can change your life. It did mine.

Like most people, I feared public speaking. I had terrible anxiety and panic attacks. I would do just about anything to avoid giving presentations. The larger the audience, the worse my fear.

But God has a sense of humor. I became a teacher. Then a professor. A communication professor! Bit by bit, I learned how to overcome my fear and speak well. Speaking became fun. I still get anxious, but that helps me remember to prepare well.

Anyone can learn to be an effective speaker. All that is needed is a willingness to give it a try. If you are willing to learn, I am willing to teach you.

In this book I show you step by step how to go beyond fear to comfortable speaking, from comfortable speaking to effective speaking, and from being effective to being courageous.

As Buffet says, you will increase your value in the marketplace. More than that, you will increase your self-confidence for life. Learning public speaking is a lifelong benefit.

God is in the business of using people like you and me to make a difference in others' lives. As I explain in chapter 1, God calls people to speak up. All kinds of people. Not just great speakers. Often anxious and fearful ones.

I wrote this book for Christians who want to learn public speaking with faith, skill, and virtue. I learned public speaking by doing it myself,

mentoring others, and teaching at Christian universities and seminaries. In this book I share decades of experience.

From a Christian perspective, public speaking is what I call "servant speaking." We can serve God, our audiences, and others every time we speak. Learning to do this well has become one of the most rewarding things in my life. It is a gratifying way to serve.

You can use this book on your own as a handbook, or you can use it to learn with others. I wrote it specifically for classroom settings, but I filled it with examples and illustrations so readers can learn on their own as well.

This book includes the following features:

- clear, reader-friendly prose with minimal idioms, only obvious metaphors, and no complicated grammar for second-language users
- concrete examples and illustrations from others' and my own public speaking (including humorous tales of things that went wrong as well as right)
- many examples and illustrations of speech topics of interest to students, including career, anxiety and depression, social media, and interpersonal relationships
- chapter-by-chapter spotlight topics on many aspects of planning, rehearsing, and delivering speeches
- "servant speaking tips" throughout the book that offer short-butessential practical tips
- engaging discussion questions at the end of each chapter, which can also serve as reviews of key concepts and practices
- online materials to help educators use the book (most of these eSources are on the Baker Publishing Group website—http://bakeracademic .com/professors—with some on my personal website and YouTube channel)

I wrote this book to help you use the gift of speech to love others with faith, skill, and virtue. I thank God for calling me to this project and giving me the patience and courage to complete it.

Please let me know how I might serve you with instructor or other resources. I am always delighted to conduct live video discussions with university classes and other groups reading my books. My website (www .quentinschultze.com) includes my contact information.

### ONE

# Speak to Serve

ick and Barb were Christians and decided to marry. Rick was a virgin; Barb was not. Before they wed, Barb discovered she was HIV positive. She wondered if Rick would end the relationship. Doctors said Barb had less than a year to live, but she and Rick married anyway. Barb lived on, for over twenty years and counting. So did their marriage. Along the way, Rick and Barb discovered that they could serve others by speaking publicly about living with HIV/AIDS and forming healthy marriages.<sup>1</sup>

They never imagined launching a speaking ministry. They were not trained public speakers, and their story was embarrassing. Nevertheless, they faithfully responded to God's call for them to serve others.

This chapter is an invitation to accept God's call to become a faithful public speaker—a servant speaker. *Servant speaking* is using God's gift of speech publicly to love our neighbors as ourselves.

### Start with Neighbor Love

Speech is part of how we live as God's image bearers. We speak in order to grow friendships and marriages, to teach and to preach, to lead and to learn. Some of our speech is *public*—in front of groups or larger audiences.

When we begin public speaking, we tend to focus on skills. But what about our motives? Should we speak primarily to serve ourselves or others? How do we serve the Lord as public speakers?

### Desire to Love Others with the Gift of Speech

God calls and equips each of us to use the gift of communication to serve our neighbors, who potentially include everyone in need. Our ability to speak is a present from God. We inherit the gift as God's creatures, made in his image.

What should we do with such an amazing gift? Give thanks for it, develop it, and even enjoy it—all in the service of others as well as ourselves. In short, we are called daily to love others with the gift of communication. Servant speaking is one way for us to respond faithfully to God's command that we love God and our neighbors as ourselves (Luke 10:27).

Sometimes we are asked to speak formally, perhaps at work, church, or a wedding. Other times we might feel we must speak up in order to right a wrong. In any case, our words should come from our loving hearts (Matt. 15:18). When we desire to love others, our words can specially bless them.

### Seek Shared Understanding for Community

Communication is *sharing understanding*. Successful communication creates shared understanding. Whether we agree or disagree with one another, we still can seek to understand one another. We just need to keep trying. The alternative is *ex-communication*—breaking off our communication.

God's gift of communication is also the gift of community. Communication is how we build communities of understanding, hope, and love. Communication is one of the most powerful ways that we put our love of God and neighbor into action for community. When we break off communication, we dissolve community. When we deliver an effective speech, we form community with our audience.

### Listen for Ways to Serve

If we listen to others and to the Holy Spirit's prompting, we discover many speech callings in our lives. In Scripture, *listening* is becoming intimate with reality—with the way things really are in our relationships, communities, and the wider world. When we listen to God and others, we become personally aware of particular neighbors' needs.

The greatest listener was Jesus Christ, who humbled himself by taking "the very nature of a servant" (Phil. 2:7–8). Jesus "did not come to be served, but to serve, and to give his life as a ransom for many" (Matt.

### **Our Responsibility to Listen to Speakers**

Listening well to speakers is a responsibility as well as a skill. We are morally obligated to do our best to understand speakers, just as they are obligated to make themselves understandable. We need to give every speaker our full, undivided attention, take notes if it helps us, and avoid letting our own biases interfere with gaining an understanding of what the speaker is saying. We should evaluate a speaker's content only after we are sure we understand it. Sometimes we might even need to discuss a speech with someone else who attended before we assume that we understood the speaker.

20:28). He started speaking publicly as a boy in a synagogue. His public speaking continues today through Scripture.

As followers of Jesus, we humbly pay attention to others' needs. As we listen, we discover which of our neighbors we might serve by speaking—and what to say to best serve them. A servant speaker must be a good listener, and a good listener, with an open heart and mind, will feel called to serve others.

We do not normally speak just to promote our own interests, although sometimes we should speak up in order to protect our names, defend our faith, and even appropriately advance our careers in church or society. The principles of public speaking are excellent for job interviews.

Even as we practice public speaking in a classroom or online setting, we should do our best to serve others. As we think and practice "service," we are well on the road to becoming servant speakers.

We learn to find things to speak about when we listen to our own life experiences. Our lives include many parable-like experiences, which are stories waiting to be told. In fact, we tell personal tales all the time to friends, family, and coworkers. Such personal storytelling is a major part of our *interpersonal communication*—face-to-face or digital interaction between persons. Our own life experiences can be powerful examples and illustrations for speeches. For instance, we might personally have been a victim of verbal bullying or harassment. We might have been shunned by friends or coworkers. These could be stories worth sharing.

We might have been wonderfully blessed by people who walked alongside us when we lost a loved one. Our faith might have been deepened by a parent or grandparent, a particular minister, teacher, counselor, or physician. These too might be stories worth sharing.

### **Jesus Calls Us to Love**

"Love the Lord your God with all your heart and with all your soul and with all your mind and with all your strength." . . . "Love your neighbor as yourself." There is no commandment greater than these.

Mark 12:30-31

### See Audiences as Neighbors

The biblical analogy for servant speaking is the story of the Good Samaritan, who stopped along the road to help the man who was robbed, beaten up, and left for dead after religious people passed by without assisting him. Jesus uses the parable to explain that fulfilling God's law is about loving God and loving neighbor as self. Our neighbors are all of those in need, including our audiences (Luke 10:25–37).

### Speak Up for Neighbors beyond Audiences

In addition to serving our audience-neighbors directly, we can love our audiences by informing and persuading them to serve others. If we have the power and platform that others lack, we can speak up for them. In effect, we serve our audiences by becoming Jesus's ambassadors for the *voiceless*—those who do not have a means and audience to speak up for themselves.

What gets in the way of our speaking up for others? Primarily ego and fear. Even when we overcome the fear, we tend to think that we own our

### Be a Good Samaritan

Ask God, "Please give me a heart like the Good Samaritan's to serve others with my voice and ears." Consider adding that simple, one-sentence request to your daily prayers for the next month. If you do, you will discover that you are gaining a more willing, servant-oriented heart to love others with the gift of communication.

We speak as Good Samaritans in a world robbed of spiritual, psychological, moral, and social goodness. We speak up for people who have been beaten down by liars and manipulators. We speak to people who need encouragement and hope. We speak to those who seek knowledge, information, and skill. We speak to give others joy and delight. In short, we speak to love our neighbors as ourselves.

### **U2's Bono on Rock Singers' Egos**

[The] only thing worse than a rock star is a rock star with a conscience. . . . But worse yet is a singer with a conscience, . . . [an] activist with a Lexus and a swimming pool shaped like his head. . . . A singer is someone with a hole in his heart almost the size of his ego. When you need twenty thousand people screaming your name in order to feel good about your day, you know you're a singer.

Harvard University Commencement Address, 2001, https://www.americanrhetoric.com/speeches/bonoharvardcommencement.htm

ears and voices solely for our own self-interested use. Our egos keep us focused on ourselves.

Parents of a disabled son discovered that the Christian school system in their area did not adequately address the needs of such children. They researched the best ways of serving disabled children, shared their findings with other parents, and soon were speaking to school administrators and wider community audiences. They spoke up in love for "the least of these," advocating for God's young image bearers who were not able to speak up for themselves (Matt. 25:40). Their convicting message was that when disabled children are served well, the entire community benefits.<sup>2</sup>

### Listen for God's Calls

God calls us to use our voices, when he desires, for his plans. We are his speech agents, no matter how fearful or unskilled we are.

God called Moses, a very reluctant and challenged speaker (perhaps a stutterer, with "faltering lips"), to address the Israelites and Pharaoh (Exod. 6:30), even giving him Aaron to help (Exod. 4:14–15). God called Jeremiah, whose excuse for not wanting to obey God was that he was too young (Jer. 1:6).

God called the apostle Paul, who admitted he was not a great speaker, to become the first major Christian evangelist (2 Cor. 11:6). Paul told the Corinthians, "I did not come with *eloquence* [smooth, effective speaking] or human wisdom as I proclaimed to you the testimony about God" (1 Cor. 2:1). Paul might have lacked speaking skills, but he made up for it in being a hard-working servant to particular audiences.

These biblical examples can give us hope in God's power to speak through us. I was an awful communicator for many years, gripped by a

### Called from the Ku Klux Klan to Speak for Jesus

### **Richard Harris**

### **Professor of Communication**

One afternoon when I was four years old, I listened to my parents arguing with my grandmother about taking me to a speech therapist. She insisted that I should be speaking plainly by now. My parents kept telling her they understood what I was saying and saw no need for a speech therapist. My grandmother won. I was in speech therapy for seven years. After that, I could speak plainly. But during those seven years I was constantly bullied by kids making fun of the way I spoke. I was angry. I wanted to get even. I wanted to be the bully, not the bullied.

At sixteen, I joined the infamous Ku Klux Klan (KKK). Because of my ability to speak publicly, I rose to leadership quickly. By the time I was eighteen, I was the Grand Dragon of the Indiana KKK, giving speeches all around the nation. I used my gift of speech to spread evil, hatred, and violence.

Four years later, I met Jesus, who radically changed my heart. I quit the Klan. They let me out after putting a gun to my head with the warning, "You talk, you die." I kept quiet for fifteen years. But God's call was to use my speaking gifts to serve others with truth, love, and justice. I started speaking out against racism, the KKK, and other white supremacist groups. I committed my life to using my voice to build bridges of understanding and better communication between races. Answering God's call to use his gift responsibly has opened doors for me to speak to churches, to civic groups, to corporate gatherings, and even on Capitol Hill in Washington, DC.

As I serve my audiences with my new message, my new goal in life is to help people relate, communicate, and resonate across racial lines.

panicky fear of public speaking. Yet God kept calling me into situations where I could serve others with speech. Often I protested, "God, why me?" I eventually became a professor of communication and a frequent public speaker. I am still astonished. I worked hard, but the Holy Spirit accompanied me, revealed my neighbors' needs, convicted me, and gave me courage. This is what God does if we attentively listen for his calls and follow faithfully.

At a minimum, we can be prepared to answer everyone who asks us to explain the source of our hope by giving testimony to our faith (1 Pet. 3:15). This usually happens in interpersonal situations, but sometimes we will feel called to share our faith in small groups or with larger audiences.

We need to stay attentive to all opportunities for *impromptu speaking*—speaking when we have little or no time to prepare. I went to a board meeting at a Christian elementary school just planning to listen, but I ended up feeling called to speak comforting words of hope in the midst of a tense situation with angry parents and defensive school administrators. Thanks to the Holy Spirit's guidance, my words redirected the course of the meeting for good. If I had thought I would have had to stand up and speak, however, I probably would have staved home.



# Common Speech Situations

- praying during worship
- leading a tour
- coaching a team
- giving a eulogy
- teaching a lesson
- introducing a speaker
- offering a wedding toast
- giving a brief devotional

### Speak Courageously

An acquaintance asked me to lead a prayer on the street for a group of residents concerned for the welfare of their missing neighbor. I was uncomfortable praying, partly because I did not know the missing person well. Once asked, however, I felt called to serve my neighborhood. The Holy Spirit seemed to be prompting me. I prayed for the police and relatives as well as nearby neighbors. I prayed for comfort and hope. I just tried to express what we all were thinking and feeling.

Months later, the neighbor was found murdered. I was stunned. Suddenly my shaky prayer seemed even more important. My impromptu prayer was not fancy, but it came from my heart on behalf of my neighborhood community. I was glad that I had the courage to accept the call to serve my literal neighbors.

### Conclusion

Barb and Rick heard the call to become servant speakers, helping married couples grow in the Lord and teaching the church the truth about HIV/ AIDS and its victims. They did not imagine Barb's discovery that she was HIV positive would have led to such a calling. God opened up opportunities in the midst of their difficulties.

God often uses our weaknesses to demonstrate his glory (2 Cor. 12:9). God does not require us to be perfect speakers. He wants us to learn how to speak the truth in love, with a servant's heart, just as the Good Samaritan reached out to a needy victim on the side of the road.

### FOR DISCUSSION

- 1. When is public speaking a call to serve others? Is everyone called?
- 2. When did you feel like you should speak up but then decided not to? Why?
- 3. What difference would it actually make if we thought of our audiences as our biblical neighbors? How might we plan speeches differently?
- 4. Why not think about public speaking just as a way for speakers to influence audiences? Is that unbiblical?